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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

This SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (“Settlement Agreement”), dated as of 
March 12, 2013, is by and between American Airlines, Inc. (“American”), on the one hand, and 
Travelport Limited and Travelport, LP (together, “Travelport”), on the other hand.  American 
and Travelport may be referred to hereinafter jointly as the “Parties” or individually as a “Party.”  

Recitals 

A. Travelport owns and/or operates several Global Distribution Systems (the 
“Travelport GDSs”), including Galileo, Worldspan, and Apollo. 

 
B. On November 5, 2010, Travelport, L.P. filed suit against American Airlines, Inc. 

in the Circuit Court for Cook County, Illinois, County Department, Chancery Division (the 
“State Court”) in the matter styled Travelport, L.P. v. American Airlines, Inc., No. 10 CH 48028 
(the “Chicago Action”).  Travelport alleged, among other things, that American breached its 
contract with Travelport’s predecessor-in-interest.  American counterclaimed alleging, among 
other things, breach of the same contract.  On November 29, 2011, the Chicago Action was 
stayed. 

   
C. On April 12, 2011, American filed suit against Orbitz and Travelport Limited and 

Travelport, LP (together, “Travelport”) in the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of Texas, Fort Worth Division (the “Federal Court”) in the matter styled American 
Airlines, Inc. v. Sabre, Inc., et al., Case Number 4:11-cv-00244-Y (the “Federal Action” and 
together with the Chicago Action and all other existing and currently know litigation between the 
parties, the “Actions”). 

 
D. On June 1, 2011, American amended its complaint in the Federal Action to 

include defendants Sabre, Inc., Sabre Holdings Corporation, and Sabre Travel International Ltd. 
(collectively, “Sabre”). 

 
E. In the Federal Action, American alleges, among other things, claims against 

Sabre, Travelport, and Orbitz for antitrust violations based on Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman 
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-2. 

 
F. On December 22, 2011, Travelport filed counterclaims against American in the 

Federal Action for antitrust violations based on Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2 (the 
“Counterclaims”).  The Counterclaims were dismissed with prejudice on August 16, 2012, and 
on February 5, 2013, Travelport filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Leave to File an 
Additional Counterclaim (the “Proposed Counterclaim”).   

 
G. On November 29, 2011, AMR Corporation and its affiliated debtors (collectively, 

the “American Debtors”) filed a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the 
United States Code, as amended (the “Chapter 11 Case”), in the United States Bankruptcy Court 
for the Southern District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court”).  On January 30, 2012, the 
Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay pursuant to section 362(d)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code 
and ordered that all claims in the Federal Action may be finally determined and adjudicated.  
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Travelport filed proofs of claims in the Chapter 11 Case: claim nos. 12611, 13155, 12610, and 
12612 (collectively, the “Proofs of Claim”).  Claim no. 12610 was expunged by court order.  At a 
hearing on February 26, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court clarified its January 30, 2012 Order and 
authorized Travelport to pursue permission from the court in the Federal Action to file its 
Proposed Counterclaim in the Federal Action. 

H. To avoid the costs and expenses associated with the Actions between the Parties, 
the Parties desire to fully compromise and settle amicably the Actions solely as between the 
Parties and all of the disputes and controversies arising from or related to the Actions between 
the Parties, including, but not limited to, all claims, counterclaims, Proofs of Claim filed in the 
Chapter 11 Case, or third-party claims asserted, or that could have been asserted, by one Party 
against the other Party in any forum, including any claims for attorneys’ fees, interest, or costs 
that have been or could have been asserted by the Parties, as set forth in this Settlement 
Agreement; 

 
I. The Parties intend that the full terms and conditions of their compromise and 

settlement be set forth in this Settlement Agreement; 
 
J. The Parties wish to fully and finally resolve the Actions as between them without 

acknowledgment of fault or liability;  
 
K. The Parties do not intend for this Settlement Agreement to release, compromise, 

or in any way affect any claims or defenses American has or may have, whether known or 
unknown, against Orbitz or Sabre, regardless of whether such claims or defenses are asserted in 
the Federal Action; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, covenants, releases, and 

agreements contained in this Settlement Agreement, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which the Parties acknowledge, the Parties hereby 
agree as follows: 

 
1. Contemporaneous Related Agreements.   

 
1.1. The Parties acknowledge that they have contemporaneously with this Settlement 

Agreement executed the following binding agreements that are effective upon the 
occurrence of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 6 below) and which are 
collectively referred to as the “Related Agreements”: 
 

1.1.1. The Galileo Content Amendment (“Galileo Content Amendment”) by and 
between American Airlines, Inc., a Delaware company, and Travelport, LP, a 
Delaware limited partnership (and successor entity to Galileo International 
L.L.C.), and Travelport Global Distribution System B.V., a company organized 
under the laws of the Netherlands (and successor entity to Galileo Nederland, 
B.V.).   
 

1.1.2. The Amendment to Galileo International Global Airline Distribution Agreement  
by and between American Airlines, Inc., a Delaware company, and Travelport, 
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2.2. Structured Cash Payments. 
 
 

 
     

2.3 Tax Treatment.  The Parties shall use reasonable efforts to reach a consensus concerning 
the treatment for tax purposes of the payments provided for under this Settlement Agreement 
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, with respect to matters involving valuation, timing 
and characterization).  In the event that the Parties do not reach a consensus concerning tax 
treatment, Travelport may choose to obtain an opinion at Travelport’s expense from an 
appropriate expert, which Travelport may abide by, and in such event, American will also 
abide by such opinion, provided that if American obtains a differing opinion at its own 
expense, American may instead abide by the opinion it obtained. 

3. Dismissal.  On the date this Settlement Agreement is executed (the “Execution Date”), the 
Parties shall jointly notify the courts presiding over the Actions that they have reached a 
settlement of the claims asserted in the Actions, subject to the occurrence of the Release Date 
(as defined in Subsection 4.1 below), and request that the Court stay all further proceedings 
as between the Parties until the occurrence of the Release Date.  Upon the occurrence of the 
Release Date, the parties shall request that the courts presiding over the Actions dismiss the 
Actions, with prejudice, by filing the dismissal papers attached hereto as Exhibit A, with 
each Party bearing its own costs with respect to the Actions and their dismissals.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, this dismissal will not apply to any claims against Orbitz in the Federal 
Action. 

4. Release.  

4.1. Upon the expiration of ninety (90) days after American's receipt of the Settlement 
Payment pursuant to Section 2.1 herein, and assuming there has been no intervening 
bankruptcy filing by Travelport, or, in the event of any bankruptcy filing by Travelport 
before that time, upon Travelport’s assumption of this Settlement Agreement and the 
Related Agreements (the “Release Date”), American, on behalf of itself and its parents, 
subsidiaries, affiliates, members, managers, shareholders, former shareholders, 
employees, partners, officers, directors, agents, insurers, and legal counsel (collectively, 
the “American Releasing Parties”), hereby releases, discharges, and acquits Travelport, 
together with any past, present, and future members, officers, directors, partners, 
principals, agents, insurers, servants, employees, administrators, executors, trustees, 
attorneys, related or affiliated corporate and/or partnership entities, including 
corporations, limited liability companies, general and/or limited partnerships, parents, 
and subsidiaries, and all of their past, present, and future employees, officers, 
shareholders, members, managers, directors, agents, insurers and legal counsel, except as 
provided herein (collectively, the “Travelport Released Parties”), from the Actions and 
any and all claims, debts, damages, demands, rights, liabilities, suits, matters, issues and 
causes of action of every nature and description whatsoever arising from a common 
nucleus of operative fact that could have been asserted in the Actions, whether or not 
concealed or hidden, existing or accruing as of the Effective Date, including all claims 
for attorneys’ fees or other legal expenses (the “American Released Claims”).  The 
release granted herein will not apply to any claims against Orbitz in the Federal Action. 
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4.2. Effective upon the Release Date, Travelport, on behalf of itself and its parents, 
subsidiaries, affiliates, members, managers, shareholders, former shareholders, 
employees, partners, officers, directors, agents, insurers, and legal counsel,  
(collectively, the “Travelport Releasing Parties”), hereby releases, discharges, and 
acquits American, together with any past, present, and future members, officers, 
directors, partners, principals, agents, insurers, servants, employees, administrators, 
executors, trustees, attorneys, related or affiliated corporate and/or partnership entities, 
including corporations, limited liability companies, general and/or limited partnerships, 
parents, and subsidiaries, and all of their past, present, and future employees, officers, 
shareholders, members, managers, directors, agents, insurers and legal counsel 
(collectively, the “American Released Parties”) from any and all claims, debts, damages, 
demands, rights, liabilities, suits, matters, issues and causes of action of every nature and 
description whatsoever arising from a common nucleus of operative fact that could have 
been asserted in the Actions, including but not limited to the Counterclaims, the 
Proposed Counterclaim, and the Proofs of Claim, whether or not concealed or hidden, 
existing or accruing as of the Effective Date, including all claims for attorneys’ fees or 
other legal expenses (the “Travelport Released Claims”). The release granted herein will 
not apply to any claims by Orbitz against American in the Federal Action. 

4.3. With respect to any and all claims encompassed by subsection 4.1 and 4.2 above that 
any Releasor does not know or suspect to exist in his, her, or its favor at the time of 
giving the release in this Settlement Agreement that if known by him, her, or it, might 
have affected his, her, or its settlement and release in this Settlement Agreement, each 
Releasor shall expressly waive or be deemed to have waived and by operation of the 
Bankruptcy Court Order (as defined below) shall have waived the provisions, rights, and 
benefits of California Civil Code §1542, to the extent it applies (and any and all 
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 
United States, or principle of common law or foreign law, that is similar, comparable, or 
equivalent in effect to California Civil Code §1542), which provides: 

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE 
CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT 
THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM 
MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE 
DEBTOR. 
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5. Covenants, Representations, and Warranties.  

5.1  American Covenants, Representations, and Warranties.   

5.1.1.   American is a Delaware corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation.  American and 
certain of its affiliates are debtors in possession under chapter 11 of the 
Bankruptcy Code, and American’s entry into this Settlement Agreement and the 
delivery of the releases set forth herein is subject to Bankruptcy Court approval.  
Subject only to the receipt of Bankruptcy Court approval, American has all 
necessary power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations 
under this Settlement Agreement as contemplated by its applicable governing 
documents (the “American Governing Documents”). 

5.1.2. Subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, the execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Settlement Agreement (a) are within American’s powers, (b) 
have been duly authorized by all necessary action on its behalf and all necessary 
consents or approvals have been obtained and are in full force and effect and (c) 
do not conflict with or violate any of the terms and conditions of (i) the 
American Governing Documents, (ii) any applicable law, or (iii) any contracts to 
which it is a party. 

5.1.3 American agrees that it will not contest the legality of this Settlement 
Agreement or the Related Agreements, provided that in the event of any 
bankruptcy filing by Travelport, if Travelport does not assume this Settlement 
Agreement and the Related Agreements, American may contest the legality of 
this Settlement Agreement and the Related Agreements.  

5.1.4 The Parties agree that the terms and negotiation of this Settlement Agreement 
and the Related Agreements shall not be used in any litigation among the 
Parties, provided that a Party may use such terms in any litigation enforcing its 
rights hereunder or under the Related Agreements. 

5.1.5 American will not take any action to instigate or otherwise urge any 
Governmental Authority to take antitrust enforcement action against Travelport 
or its affiliates based on the Settlement Agreement, the Related Agreements, or 
any other agreements on which American may not seek relief under the terms of 
this Settlement Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this 
agreement restricts American’s ability to urge any Government Authority to 
take antitrust enforcement action or seek any remedy with respect to the 
American Released Claims, and nothing in this agreement restricts Travelport’s 
ability to urge any Government Authority to take antitrust enforcement action or 
seek any remedy with respect to the Travelport Released Claims. 

5.1.6 The existing commercial and technological relationship between Farelogix, Inc., 
or any of its current subsidiaries (collectively, “Farelogix”) and American 
outside the United States is not materially different from the current commercial 
and technological relationship between Farelogix and American in the United 
States. 
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Information, as follows:  (a) to (i) the UCC and its advisors, (ii) Milbank, Tweed, 
Hadley & McCloy and Houlihan, Lokey as advisors to the Ad Hoc Committee of 
Bondholders, (iii) Kramer, Levin and The Seabury Group, as advisors to Bank of 
New York Mellon, Trustee, and (iv) the fee examiner in the Chapter 11 Case, 
such disclosure being subject to the terms of existing confidentiality agreements 
with each of the foregoing, and (b) American may disclose and may file the 
foregoing in connection with obtaining the Bankruptcy Court Order subject to the 
provisions of Section 6 of this Settlement Agreement.    

9.4. In the case of a subpoena or court order seeking or purporting to require access to 
Confidential Information, the Settlement Agreement, the Related Agreements or 
information about their terms (a “Disclosure Request”), the Party receiving the 
Disclosure Request (the “Receiving Party”) agrees, to the extent permitted by law, 
to notify the other Party and their counsel promptly upon receipt of the Disclosure 
Request and to provide counsel with a copy thereof.  The Receiving Party agrees 
to use its reasonable efforts, as permitted by applicable law, to cooperate with the 
other Party in any reasonable efforts by such Party to prevent or limit the 
disclosure of Information, Confidential Information (such as obtaining a 
protective order, stay of disclosure, or other available remedy), unless doing so 
would expose such Party to any liability or legal sanction.  The foregoing 
requirements of this Section do not apply to any requests for access to this 
Settlement Agreement or any of the Related Agreements from the DOJ. 

10. No Admission of Liability.  The execution of this Settlement Agreement is not intended to 
be, nor shall it be construed as, an admission or evidence of any liability, wrongdoing, or 
obligation whatsoever by any of the Parties with respect to any claim or counterclaim in the 
Actions.  The Parties shall not seek in any civil, criminal or administrative proceeding to use 
or introduce this Settlement Agreement, or the fact of its execution by any Party, to prove the 
validity or amount of any claim or defense, with the exception of claims for breach of the 
Settlement Agreement or other proceedings to enforce the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement. 

11. Joint Public Announcement; No Other Public Comment.  Upon execution of this Settlement 
Agreement, American and Travelport will promptly make a joint public announcement in the 
form attached as Exhibit 2.  Except as otherwise provided herein, neither Party may make 
any additional public announcement or public disclosure to any third party regarding the 
existence or nature of the discussions hereunder, the Settlement, the Settlement Agreement, 
the Related Agreements or any other matters contemplated herein, unless the other Party has 
given its specific prior written consent to such public announcement or public disclosure. 
 

12. Notices.  All notices, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed to have been duly given: 

(a) when personally delivered;  

(b) upon actual receipt (as established by confirmation of receipt or otherwise) 
during normal business hours, otherwise on the first Business Day thereafter, if 
transmitted by facsimile or telecopier with confirmation of receipt; 
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(c) on the third Business day following mailing by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, postage prepaid; or 

(d) on the next Business Day following delivery to an  overnight courier;  

in each case, to the following addresses, or to such other addresses as a Party may from time 
to time specify by notice to the other Parties given pursuant hereto. 

If to American, to: 

American Airlines, Inc. 
4333 Amon Carter Boulevard, MD5675 
Fort Worth, Texas 76155 
Attention: Gary Kennedy, Senior Vice President and General Counsel 
Facsimile: (817) 967-1322  

 
With a copy to (which does not constitute notice): 
 

Weil Gotshal & Manges LLP 
Attention: Richard Rothman, Esq. 
Telephone: (212) 310-8000 
Facsimile: (212) 310-8007 
Email: richard.rothman@weil.com  

 
If to Travelport, to: 

Travelport, Inc. 
22 Elm Place 
Rye, New York 
Attention:  Eric J. Bock, Esq. 
Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Chief Administrative   

  Officer 
Telephone:  (212) 915-9160 
Facsimile: (914) 967-0128 
Email: eric.bock@travelport.com 

   
With a copy to (which does not constitute notice): 
 

Michael Weiner, Esq. 
Dechert LLP 
1095 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10036 
Telephone:  (212) 698-3608 
Facsimile:  (212) 698-0408 
Email:  michael.weiner@dechert.com 

 
13. Entire Agreement.  This Settlement Agreement, together with the Related Agreements, 

constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties, superseding all prior agreements and 
understandings as to their respective subject matters, notwithstanding any oral 
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representations or statements to the contrary.  Each Party specifically disclaims any reliance 
on any prior understandings and representations.  

 
14. Survival of Representations.  Except as expressly set forth herein, all representations, 

warranties, agreements, covenants, and obligations herein are material, shall be deemed to 
have been relied upon by the other Parties, and shall survive the date of the Bankruptcy Court 
Order. 
 

15. Successors and Assigns.  The Parties acknowledge that each and every covenant, warranty, 
release, and agreement contained herein shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the 
agents, subsidiaries, employees, officers, directors, shareholders, assigns, and successors in 
interest of the Parties, including, but not limited to, with respect to American and the 
American Debtors, the reorganized debtors, any reorganized entity, any entity that merges or 
consolidates with, or purchases the assets of, American or the American Debtors in the 
chapter 11 cases, or in any chapter 7 case, as the case may be, or at anytime thereafter, and 
any chapter 7 or 11 trustee or examiner appointed in the American Debtors' chapter 11 cases. 
 

16. Specific Performance.  It is understood and agreed by the Parties that money damages would 
not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of this Settlement Agreement by any Party and 
each non-breaching Party shall be entitled to specific performance and injunctive or other 
equitable relief as a remedy of any such breach. 
 

17. Taxes.  Amounts payable by one Party to the other Party under this Agreement are payable in 
full to such other Party without deduction of, or reduction for, any taxes, duties, or imposts.  
Each Party will be solely responsible for reporting and paying all taxes of any nature 
imposed by any Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction on such Party (or any of its 
subsidiaries) as a result of the payments or transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
 

18. Counterparts.  This Settlement Agreement may be executed in counterparts, by either an 
original signature or signature transmitted by facsimile transmission or other similar process 
and each copy so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all copies so executed shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 
 

19. Amendments.  This Settlement Agreement may not be modified, amended or supplemented 
except by a written agreement executed by all Parties hereto. 
 

20. No Waiver.  The failure by any of the Parties to enforce at any time, or for any period of 
time, any one or more of the terms or conditions of this Settlement Agreement, or a course of 
dealing between the Parties, shall not be a waiver of such terms or conditions or of such 
Party’s right thereafter to enforce each and every term and condition of this Settlement 
Agreement. 

21. Good Faith Negotiations.  The Parties recognize and acknowledge that each of them is 
represented by counsel, and such Party received independent legal advice with respect to the 
advisability of entering into this Settlement Agreement.  Each of the Parties acknowledges 
that the negotiations leading up to this Settlement Agreement were conducted regularly and 
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at arm's length; this Settlement Agreement is made and executed by and of each Party's own 
free will; each knows all of the relevant facts and its rights in connection therewith; and it has 
not been improperly influenced or induced to make this settlement as a result of any act or 
action on the part of any Party or employee, agent, attorney, or representative of any Party to 
this Settlement Agreement.  The Parties further acknowledge that they entered into this 
Settlement Agreement because of their desire to avoid the further expense and inconvenience 
of litigation and other disputes and to compromise permanently and settle the Actions as 
provided in this Settlement Agreement.  
 

22. Interpretation.  This Settlement Agreement has been jointly drafted by the Parties at arm's 
length and each Party has had ample opportunity to consult with independent legal counsel.  
No provision or ambiguity in this Settlement Agreement shall be resolved against any Party 
solely by virtue of its participation in the drafting of this Settlement Agreement. 
 

23. Captions.  The captions of this Settlement Agreement are for convenience only and are not a 
part of this Settlement Agreement and do not in any way limit or amplify the terms and 
provisions of this Settlement Agreement and shall have no effect on its interpretation. 

 
 

THE UNDERSIGNED HAVE CAREFULLY READ THE FOREGOING SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT AND RELEASES OF CLAIMS, KNOW THE CONTENTS THEREOF, 
FULLY UNDERSTAND IT, AND SIGN THE SAME AS ITS OWN FREE ACT. 

 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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